IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 97-10773

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

JAMES TRUESDALE; RONALD HAM LTON
RI CHARD E. JONES; SANDRA M LNER

Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas

August 24, 1998

Bef ore GARWOOD, JONES and WENER, G rcuit Judges.
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant s- appel | ants Janes Truesdale (Truesdale), Ronald
Ham lton (Hamlton), R chard E. Jones (Jones), and Sandra M| ner
(MlIner) (collectively appellants) were convicted on nultiple
counts for their involvenent in a ganbling operation. Findingthat
there is insufficient evidence supporting the convictions, we
reverse on all counts.

Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

This case arises from a sports wagering operation that



accepted bets in the Cari bbean, but conducted sone of the financi al
transactions related to those bets in the Dallas, Texas, area. The
participants were i ndi cted on vari ous conspiracy, noney | aunderi ng,
travel in aid of racketeering, and ganbling counts related to their
i nvol venent in this bookmaki ng operation. They were all convicted
on multiple counts and sentenced to prisonterns ranging from1l5 to
46 nont hs.

Jones was the head of an international sports wagering
service, variously known as Spectrum or Wrld Sportsbook (W5B),
that operated in the Dom ni can Republic, Jamaica, and Dallas. WSB
mai nt ai ned of fshore offices in order to provide a way for people in
the United States to place bets on sporting events wi thout running
af oul of donestic ganbling laws. In Jamaica and the Dom nican

Republic, a properly licensed conpany that conplies with | ocal | aws

can legally operate a booknaki ng service, |ike WSB, as |l ong as the
servi ce does not accept bets fromlocal individuals. |In Dallas,
however, bookmaking is illegal under the laws of the State of
Texas.

The offshore operation began in 1990 when Jones forned
Spectrum SA in the Dom ni can Republic for the purpose of accepting
i nternational phone bets. Spectrumwas fornmed with the assistance
of a local attorney who filed the necessary paperwork and hel ped
Spectrum obtain a license from the Dom nican governnent that
allowed it to accept wagers on sporting events via international
phone calls. To facilitate this business, Spectrumhad an office
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in the Dom nican Republic, with eight phones and desks, that was
staffed during regul ar busi ness hours with persons who woul d answer
t he phones and process the wagers.

Later, the operation was noved to Janmai ca because Jamai ca had
| ower phone rates. |In Janaica, a new corporation was formed with
the assistance of a local attorney who filed the required
paperwor k, making the operation |egal under Janmaican law. WSB's
office in Jamaica, like its office in the Dom nican Republic, was
set up with desks and nultiple telephones for the purpose of
receiving bets fromoffshore. The Jamaican office was staffed by
persons from the Dom nican Republic, Jamaica, and the United
St at es.

Bettors in the United States could pl ace bets at these foreign
of fices through toll-free nunbers that WEB had set up. There were
several toll-free nunbers associated with the wagering service.
Sonme of these nunbers term nated at |ocations in the Dallas area,
while others termnated in the offshore office of WSB.

The nunbers that termnated in the Dallas area were
“Iinformation only” lines and were not used to accept bets. Two of
these information-only lines term nated at Jones’s and Truesdal e’ s
homes. A potential bettor would first have to call one of these
information | ines. Thereafter a nenber of the operati on would send
an information packet to the bettor explaining the operation. The
i nformati on packages gave general information about WSB, payoff
information, informati on on howto set up a wageri ng account, etc.
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These information packages |listed, anong other things, two
i nformati on-only nunbers for contacting WSB.

Before a bettor could place bets, he would first have to send
nmoney to open a betting account with W6B. To open an account or to
repl eni sh an exi sting account, bettors would wi re noney via Western
Union or send it wth Federal Express. Two ganblers testified at
trial that they made their checks payable to S. K. Ml ner. The
governnent also presented evidence that Truesdale and Ham | ton
woul d go to the Western Union office to pick up the noney transfers
and deposit the noney in various bank accounts belonging to
Truesdal e, Jones, or MlIner, in the Dallas-Fort Wrth area.

Not all bettors were required to pay up front. Those that did
not mai ntain betting accounts with WoB woul d mai | | arge anounts of
cash to Jones, listing MIner as the return addressee. M ner was
listed as the return addressee so that if the packages got lost in
the mail they would still reach a nenber of the operation. Postal
i nspectors seized several of these packages; Jones admtted that
two of the packages were ganbling proceeds and a third was noney
connected to ganbli ng.

Once a betting account had been opened with WSB, a bettor
could call the information lines to get bal ance i nformation about
hi s account. However, he could only place a bet by calling one of
the betting lines in the Dom nican Republic or Janaica. The
payoffs to wi nners were nmade fromaccounts in the Dallas-Fort Wrth
area belonging to Truesdale and Ham |t on.
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In addition to their involvement wth WB s financial
transactions and information lines, Hamlton and Truesdal e both
mai ntai ned their own sports information tel ephone |ines through
whi ch they pronoted WSB by advertising the wagering service and
giving out information-only toll-free nunbers to call. |In exchange
for this advertisenent, they were given fifty percent of the
profits that WEB derived frombettors that they brought in.

MIner was even nore involved in the organization. I n
addition to mailing out information packages, M I ner al so received
money frombettors. Ml ner also had access to Jones’s bank account
and post office box, which were used for W5EB-rel at ed busi ness. And
she handl ed many of the accounting matters related to the bettors’
accounts.

Jones, as the head of WSB, traveled frequently to Jamaica to
oversee the operation. He could also nonitor the operation from
his honme in Dallas where he had access to the betting i nformation.
From his hone in Texas he could access the Jamaican conputer to
view betting information. The conputer in Jones’s hone was
equi pped with a nobdem that not only allowed him to view
information, but also allowed Jones to input information directly
into the Jamai can conputer.

On Decenber 8, 1992, Janumi can police, with the cooperation of
United States | aw enforcenent personnel, searched WSB' s Janai can
office. After the search in Jamaica, the operation was noved back
to the Dom ni can Republic and continued there.
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On June 18, 1993, | aw enforcenent officials noved to shut down
the WSB organization in Dallas. The search of Jones’s hone
reveal ed that Jones maintai ned an office in his hone that contai ned
a conmputer, office-size photocopier, shreddi ng machi ne, two desks,
multi-line tel ephone, a fax machi ne, and a bank of televisions. A
safe was found in the floor of the master bedroom Agents seized
docunents, including a tally sheet indicating that nore than $2
mllion were wagered from April 15, 1993, to June 15, 1993. They
al so found sone black ashes floating in the toilet. Wil e the
agents were searching the hone, the phone rang several tinmes with
callers asking for “line information” and checking their deposits.
Three of the callers also asked to place bets.

When agents searched Ham Iton’s hone they found a tally sheet
of bets placed with the operation simlar to the sheet from Jones’
home. The agents also received a call from a person wanting to
know the | ine on a sporting event, and when asked whet her he want ed
to place a bet, he replied “Yes.” The agents al so seized a |list of
bettors.

At Truesdale’s and MIlner’s residences the agents seized
numer ous WEB docunent s, cashi ers checks, and Western Uni on transfer
recei pts and noney order receipts totaling $473, 114.

The appellants were indicted for conspiring to commt various
violations in connection wth their ganbling operation.
Additionally, they were each charged with various substantive
offenses including operating an illegal ganbling business,
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traveling in aid of racketeering, and noney | aunderi ng.

The jury found Truesdale, Hamlton, and MIner not guilty of
conspiracy, but guilty on several counts of noney |aundering and
guilty of illegal ganbling. Jones was convicted of conspiracy,
illegal ganbling, and noney |aundering, but found not guilty on
nmost of the “traveling in aid of racketeering” counts.

At sentencing, the court granted a downward departure for al
appel | ant s. Truesdale and Hamlton's base offense levels were
reduced from20 to 12, and MIner and Jones’s |evels were reduced
from23 to 16.

Truesdal e was sentenced to 15 nonths in jail and 3 years
supervi sed release, fined $10,000, and ordered to pay a specia
assessnment of $250.

Ham | ton was al so sentenced to 15 nonths injail with 3 years’
supervi sed release, fined $7500, and ordered to pay a specia
assessnment of $100.

Jones was sentenced to 46 nonths in jail with 3 nonths’
supervi sed release, fined $12,500, and ordered to pay a specia
assessnment of $350.

MIner was sentenced to 24 nonths in jail and 3 years’
supervi sed rel ease and no fine and ordered to pay a $200 speci al
assessment .

Di scussi on

Appel  ants, who nmade appropriate Fed. R Crim P. 29 notions



bel ow, argue that there was i nsufficient evidence supporting their
convictions on Count Two for illegal ganbling. W agree and
reverse their convictions on Count Two. Additionally, because we
agree that the appellants did not engage in illegal ganbling as
alleged in the indictnent and charged to the jury, we al so reverse
t he conspiracy, noney | aundering, and travel in aid of racketeering
convi ctions, since those convictions all depended on a findi ng t hat
the appellants engaged in illegal ganbling activity.

The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence is
hi gh, and we nmust affirmif a rational trier of fact could have
found that the evidence, viewed in the light nost favorable to the
governnent, established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See
G asser v. United States, 315 U. S. 60, 80 (1942); United States v.
Gardea Carrasco, 830 F.2d 41, 43 (5th Cr. 1987).

Count Two of the indictnent charged Jones, Truesdale,
Ham I ton, and MIner with conducting an illegal ganbling operation
in violation of 18 U S. C. 8§ 1955, which prohibits conducting,

fi nanci ng, managi ng, supervising, directing, or owning, “all or
part of an illegal ganbling business.” See 18 U S.C. § 1955(a).
Under section 1955, an illegal ganbling business is defined as a
ganbling business that: (1) violates state or local law, (2)
involves 5 or nore people, and (3) is in continuous operation for

nore than 30 days or has gross revenue of $2,000 in a single day.

See 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1955(b)(1); United States v. Heacock, 31 F.3d 249,



252 (5th Gir. 1994).!

In order to neet the first prong (violation of state | aw), the
indictnment alleged that appellants’ ganbling operation was being
conducted in violation of Chapter 47, Ganbling, of the Texas Penal
Code. The indictnent did not cite a specific provision wthinthis
chapter, but it alleged only “booknaking.”2 Additionally, the
governnent’s case focused entirely on and the jury charge
instructed only on the “bookmaeking” provisions of Chapter 47.
Chapt er 47 defines “booknmaki ng” as foll ows:

"(A) to receive and record or to forward nore than five

bets or offers to bet in a period of 24 hours;

(B) toreceive and record or to forward bets or offers to

bet totaling nore than $1,000 in a period of 24 hours;
or

1 Section 1955 reads as fol |l ows:

“(a) Whoever conducts, finances, nanages, supervises,
directs, or owns all or part of an illegal ganbling
busi ness shall be fined under this title or inprisoned
not nore than five years, or both.
(b) As used in this section—
(1) *‘illegal ganmbling business’ neans a
ganbl i ng busi ness whi ch—
(i) is aviolation of the law of a State
or political subdivision in which it is
conduct ed;
(ii) involves five or nore persons who
conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct,
or own all or part of such business; and
(iii) has been or remai ns in
substantially continuous operation for a
period in excess of thirty days or has a gross
revenue of $2,000 in any single day.”

2 The indictnent alleged that “[appellants’] illegal ganbling
busi ness invol v[ed] bookmaking, in violation of the |laws of the
State of Texas (Title 10, Texas Penal Code, Chapter 47) . . . .7
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(C) a schene by three or nore persons to receive, record,

or forward a bet or an offer to bet.” Tex. Penal Code §

47.01(2) (A - (C).
Under Texas |law “booknmaking” is illegal, and if a person
intentionally or knowngly commts “bookmaking,” he commts the
of fense of ganbling pronotion. Tex. Penal Code 8§ 47.03(a)(2).
Bookmaki ng, however, is not the only activity that constitutes
ganbling pronotion. Section 47.03(a) lists five separate
categories of activity (including “bookmaki ng”) each of which can
constitute ganbling pronotion.? Section 47.03(a) nmmkes it a
separate offense for an individual, for gain, to “. . . becone[] a
custodi an of anything of value bet or offered to be bet[.]” Tex.

Penal Code § 47.03(a)(3). In this case, neither the indictnment nor

the jury charge nor the governnent’s argunent alluded to this

3 Section 47.03, Ganbling Pronotion, reads as foll ows:

“(a) A person commts an offense if he intentionally or
know ngly does any of the follow ng acts:

(1) operates or participates in the earnings of a
ganbl i ng pl ace;

(2) engages in booknmaking;

(3) for gain, becones a custodian of anything of
val ue bet or offered to be bet;

(4) sells chances on the partial or final result of
or on the margin of victory in any gane or contest or on
t he performance of any participant in any gane or contest
or on the result of any political nom nati on,
appoi ntnent, or election or on the degree of success of
any nom nee, appointee, or candidate; or

(5) for gain, sets up or pronotes any lottery or
sells or offers to sell or knowngly possesses for
transfer, or transfers any card, stub, ticket, check, or
other device designed to serve as evidence of
participation in any lottery.” Tex. Penal Code 8§
47.03(a) (enphasi s added).
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section. The indictnment only nentioned bookmaking and the jury
charge only tracked the |[|anguage of sections 47.01(2) and
47.03(a)(2). Thus, the illegal ganbling convictions can only be
sustained on the basis of a violation of the Texas |aw agai nst
“bookmaki ng,” and the fact that the appel |l ants engaged i n fi nanci al
transactions in the State of Texas that may have run afoul of
section 47.03(a)(3) is irrelevant. So far as concerns the
violation of the state—here Texas—aw el enent of section 1955
this case was charged, tried, and instructed on solely on the basis
of a <clained violation of the Texas prohibition against
“bookmaki ng” as contained in sections 47.01(2) and 47.03(a)(2).

Appel lants claim that there was insufficient evidence that
t hey engaged in illegal bookmaking i n Texas, because t he booknaki ng
portion of their business occurred in Jamaica and the Dom ni can
Republ i c. They argue that no bets were received, recorded, or
forwarded in Texas. The governnent, however, argues that the jury
could have inferred that the operation received, recorded, or
forwarded bets, and thereby conducted il |l egal booknmaki ng, in Texas,
and, in the alternative, the governnent argues that the operation
conducted financial transactions related to the ganbling operation
wth bettors in Texas, and, thus, a part of the betting operation’s
busi ness was transacted in Texas, in violation of Texas law. W
find the governnent’s argunents unpersuasive.

As stated in the foregoing summary of the evidence, it is
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pl ain that the bookmaking activities occurred outside the United
States in Jamai ca and the Dom ni can Republic. Under section 1955,
the illegal ganbling activity nust violate the | aw of the state in
which it is conducted. The evidence at trial indicated that the
bets were taken in the Dom nican Republic or Jamaica (where such
activity is legal), and the governnent produced no evidence that
anyone in the organization accepted bets in Texas, or otherw se
vi ol ated the Texas booknaking law. The governnent sinply argues
that the jury could have inferred that sone bets were al so being
accepted in Texas, and thus appellants engaged in conduct that
vi ol ated Texas | aw.

There is evidence that Jones took bets in the Dall as-Fort
Wrth area before he noved the operation offshore, and thereby
vi ol at ed Texas’ bookmaki ng statute, but this evidence is irrel evant
since these Texas bookmaeking activities occurred before the tine
period stated in the indictnent.

The fact that tw of the toll-free nunbers used by the
organi zation term nated at the Texas residences of Truesdal e and
Jones is not probative of illegal booknmaking without sone evi dence
that bets were actually accepted over these phone lines. |If these
were the only phone lines associated with WSB and the only neans
t hrough which bettors could communi cate with WSB, then perhaps a

jury could rationally conclude that the |ines were used for ill egal
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betting.* But there were other toll-free nunbers, which were
specifically designated as “betting lines,” that termnated
of fshore and were in fact used to place bets. That is why there
was a big operation offshore. It is not rational to infer beyond
a reasonabl e doubt that sinply because the phone nunbers coul d have
been used to receive bets in Texas, that they were actually used
for this illegal purpose.

The only evidence that illegal betting was conducted over
these information-only phone lines in Texas cane from agents who
answered the phones while searching the residences. Wen agents
answered the phones at Jones’s and Ham lton’s residences, callers
ei ther asked for line information or checked whet her their ganbling
account deposits had been received. Two agents testified that they
took bets fromthese callers, but their testinony is not probative
of any wrongdoi ng by the appellants.

A caller at Hamlton’s house did not ask to place a bet,
rat her the agent searching the residence offered to take a bet from
the caller. Agent Molina testified that when he answered t he phone
at Ham lton’s house, he offered to take a bet froma caller, and
the caller asked whether he had called the right nunber. Even

after Modlina answered “Yes,” the caller refused to place a bet.

Three callers at Jones’s house placed bets on basketball or

4 So al so, perhaps, if these lines had no other purpose. But
they clearly had ot her purposes—including to give information on
the offshore betting and to establish credit.
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basebal | ganmes. But, the testinony does not suggest that any of
these three callers had ever placed a bet over one of these lines
before. Indeed, one caller thought he was calling Jamai ca.

The fact that agents allowed people to place bets on these
phone lines is probative of very little. At best it shows that
callers may have attenpted to place bets in Texas, but it does not
i ndi cate that appellants accepted bets fromcallers on these phone
lines.

In addition to these phone calls, the governnent al so points
out that Jones had the capability to input information (such as
bets and line information) into the betting conputer in Jamaica
from his hone conputer in Dallas. But there is no evidence
indicating that Jones (or anyone else) ever did this. The
governnent also argues that a notebook seized from Hamlton’s
resi dence cont ai ni ng account nunbers, teans, and anounts coul d have
been notes for accepting bets in Dallas. Finally the governnent
argues that black ash found floating in Jones’s toilet was
evi dence of sonething illegal.

Perhaps in sonme other circunstances, evidence of callers
attenpting to place bets, the nere capability to input illega
bookmaki ng information into the offshore conputer, and the other
circunstantial evidence mght lead to a rational inference that
appel l ants were engaged in illegal booknmaking in Texas. However,

| ooking at the overall <circunstances of this case, such an
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inference is unwarranted. Jones and his co-appellants went to
great effort to nake sure that their operation was |l egal. They set
up of fshore offices and consulted with awers in the United States
and abroad on the legality of their enterprise; they furnished the
Cari bbean | ocal offices with desks and tel ephones and staffed t hem
Wi th personnel to accept international phone wagers; they set up
separate phone lines that could be used to place bets in the
of fshore offices. Under these circunstances, w thout specific
evi dence of any wongdoing, it is irrational to conclude beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that after having gone through the effort of fully
equi ppi ng, staffing, and w dely advertising the Cari bbean offices,
the appellants nevertheless illegally accepted bets in the United
St at es.

The governnent has no direct evidence supporting its
contention that appellants engaged in illegal bookmaking in Texas.
And the circunstantial evidence here does not furnish an adequate
basis from which a reasonable jury could conclude beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that the appell ants were engaged i n bookmaking in
Texas. The appellants went out of their way to stay within the
| aw. The mere fact that they had the capability or even the
opportunity to break the law by accepting bets in Texas is
insufficient to prove that they actually did so.

In light of the weak circunstantial evidence, the governnent

argues in the alternative that the convictions can be upheld
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because appellants accepted noney from bettors and paid out
proceeds frombets in the United States. The governnent maintains
that these financial transactions were an essential part of the
operation. It may be true that these financial transactions were
essential to the overall operation, but they do not establish an
essential elenment of the crinme of “bookmaking” as it is defined by
Texas | aw. The Texas bookmaking statute prohibits recording,
recei ving, and forwardi ng bets; where and how the noney i s paid out
is irrelevant under section 47.03(a)(2).°> Becom ng a custodi an of
nmoney that is used to place bets offshore would be a violation of
section 47.03(a)(3). However, the indictnent did not allege that
the appellants violated section 47.03(a)(3) and the jury was not

instructed on any such violation. Nor was the case tried on that

5 The jury seens to have been confused about whether accepting
money for future betting constitutes “betting” under Texas | aw.
During deliberations, the jury sent a note to the judge asking
“[d] oes receiving noney to facilitate the placing of a wager (to be
done at a future tine) constitute a bet?” The court did not answer
this question, and responded “[t]he question you have posed is
addressed in the court’s charge and you should | ook to the charge,
considering ny instructions as a whole, for the answer.” Thi s
response was i nadequate, as the subject matter of the question was
not directly or expressly addressed in the charge, and could not
have cleared up the jurors’ <confusion. See United States .
Stevens, 38 F.3d 167 (5th Gr. 1994). The court should then have
clearly instructed that Texas | aw has broken ganbli ng down into two
separate of fenses: bookmaking (as defined in the instructions) and
for gain becom ng a custodian of anything of value bet or offered
to be bet, or at the very least the court should have answered
“No,” as appellants requested bel ow.

The court’s instruction in response to the question was
i nadequate and would require reversal were we not in any event
reversing the case because of insufficient evidence.
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t heory. In short, the governnent’s case and the jury’'s verdict
were focused exclusively on illegal bookmaking, and we cannot
affirmthe case on a different theory.

Because there is insufficient evidence to establish beyond a
reasonabl e doubt that the appellants were guilty of operating a
bookmaki ng service in violation of the Texas bookmaki ng statute, we
reverse the convictions on Count Two. Additionally, because we are
reversing the underlying ganbling of fense, we al so reverse Jones’s
Conspiracy and Travel in Ad of Racketeering convictions, and we
reverse all the appellants’ noney |aundering convictions. Al
these convictions are predicated on the section 1955 violation
charged in Count Two.

We reverse the noney |aundering convictions because w t hout
the ganbling conviction there is no underlying crimnal activity.
MIner and Jones were convicted pursuant to 18 US C 8§
1956(a) (1) (A) (1) for: (1) conducting or attenpting to conduct a
financial transaction, (2) which the defendant then knew invol ved
the proceeds of illegal activity, (3) with the intent to pronote or
further unlawful activity. See United States v. Gaytan, 74 F.3d
545, 555 (5th Cr. 1996). Truesdale and Ham | ton were convicted
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(a)(1)(B)(l) for: (1) conducting or
attenpting to conduct a financial transaction, (2) which the
def endant then knew i nvol ved the proceeds of illegal activity, (3)

wth the intent to conceal or disguise the nature, |ocation,
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source, ownership, or control of the proceeds of unlawful activity.
See United States v. Wlson, 77 F.3d 105, 108 (5th Gr. 1996).

Money |laundering requires that the defendant conduct or
attenpt to conduct a financial transaction involving the proceeds
of an illegal activity. 1In this case, the only illegal activity
that was ever alleged or submtted to the jury was illegal
bookmaki ng. As di scussed above, we reverse those convictions.
Wt hout those convictions, no illegal activity has been properly
est abl i shed upon which to base a noney | aundering conviction. W
suspect that appellants’ financial transactions in Texas probably
ran afoul of section 47.03(a)(3), but the case was not tried on
that theory, and wthout an indictnent and appropriate jury
i nstructions, we cannot uphold the noney | aunderi ng convictions on
such a basi s.

We also reverse Jones’s convictions for travel in aid of
racketeering and conspiracy. Like noney |aundering, travel in aid
of racketeering requires an underlying crimnal activity. Jones
was indicted for violating 18 U.S.C. § 1952(a)(3), which requires
that the defendant travel in interstate or foreign commerce wth
the intent to “pronote, nanage, establish, carry on, or facilitate
the pronotion, managenent, establishnent, or carrying on of any
unlawful activity[.]” 18 U.S.C. 1952(a)(3). The travel in aid of
racketeering counts were explicitly nade dependent on Count Two.

The indictnment specifically referred to the ganbling enterprise
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all eged i n Count Two as the unlawful activity supporting the travel
inaidof racketeering counts. Since we reverse the convictions on
Count Two, there is no illegal activity on which to base a trave
in aid of racketeering conviction, and hence we reverse these
convi cti ons. Finally, because we reverse all the substantive
counts, we al so reverse Jones’s conviction for conspiracy to conmt
t hose of fenses. ®
Concl usi on

For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the appellants’

convictions on all counts.

REVERSED

6 Under the allegations of the indictnent, the basis on which
the governnent tried the case and the charge, the conspiracy
ultimately depended on the theory that what was done—and there is
no showng or claim that anything else was contenplated or
agreed—econstituted bookmaking in Texas contrary to sections
47.01(2) and 47.03(a)(2).
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